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COIN WORTH? BASIS,
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The seemingly primordial desire to
own precious metals may have en-
couraged the federal government to
get back into the business of mint-
ing gold and silver coins and selling
them at FMV. But the concomitant
declaration that these coins are "le-
gal tender" has led some taxpayers
to argue that the face value controls
for various tax purposes. So far,
they have been uniformly unsuc-
cessful.
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Even the most well-versed tax
Code prospector will discover gold
in only two places—in Section 408
(IRAs) and in Section 613 (percent-
age depletion). Yet gold was discov-
ered far more frequently in a Texas
Court of Appeals case, Selgas v.
Henderson County Appraisal Dis-
trict,  2011 WL 5593138 (Tex.
App., 11/16/11), that raises interest-
ing questions that go beyond its
specific issues.

THE CASE

O n  1 / 3 1 / 0 8 ,  T h o m a s  a n d
Michelle Selgas purchased two
tracts of land in Henderson County,
Texas. The contract called for pay-
ment to be made in gold coins, and
a lot of them—1,667 to be exact.
The contract stated:

"Payment for the sale and
purchase of the Subject Property
shall be valued at sixteen thousand
six-hundred seventy (16,670) ‘dol-
lars’ of coined gold, each such ‘dol-
lar’ to consist of twenty-five one-
thousandths (0.025) of a Troy ounce
of fine gold in the form of the coins
hereinafter specified in Section (c)
of this PAYMENT CLAUSE."

The coins in question were Amer-
ican Eagle bullion gold coins, which
carried a face value of $10 apiece.
As each "dollar" consisted of
twenty-five one-thousandths troy
ounce, each $10 coin consisted of
one-quarter troy ounce ($10 face
value × 0.025 = 0.25). At the time
of the transaction, each coin was
worth approximately $250 in federal
reserve notes (the paper currency
equivalent). Doing the math, 1,667
gold coins at $250 apiece were
worth $416,750 in federal reserve
notes.

Time passed, and the day arrived
for the Selgases’ properties to be
valued by the Henderson County
Appraisal District for local property
tax purposes. The 2008 combined
valuation for both tracts came back
at $291,870, which the Selgases
protested. More time passed, and
the 2009 combined valuation came
back at $407,520, which the Sel-
gases also protested.

The Selgases’ argument was re-
ally quite simple: "We paid $16,670
for the properties, the face value of
the coins, which establishes the
market value. Any valuation above
this figure is not justified."

Unfortunately for the Selgases,
the Texas Court of Appeals did not

see it that way and granted sum-
mary judgment in favor of the tax-
ing authority. The Selgases did not
give up easily, first petitioning the
Texas Supreme Court to no avail,
and most recently being turned
down by the U.S. Supreme Court.

THE AMERICAN EAGLES

The gold coins tendered by the Sel-
gases were minted between 1995
and 2007. These coins were minted
pursuant to the Gold Bullion Coin
Act of 1985, P.L. 99-185, 12/17/85.
The Act was codified within Title
31 of the United States Code,
"Money and Finance," including 31
U.S.C. sections 5112(a)(7) through
(a)(10). All proceeds from the sale
of the gold coins were to "be depos-
ited by the Secretary in the general
fund of the Treasury and ... used for
the sole purpose of reducing the na-
tional debt," pursuant to 31 U.S.C.
section 5116(a)(2). A noble purpose
indeed.

Each coin tendered by the Sel-
gases is identified in section
5112(a)(9) as "a ten dollar gold coin
that is 22.0 millimeters in diameter,
weighs 8.483 grams, and contains
one-fourth troy ounce of fine gold."
Further, section 5112(h) states that
"the coins issued under this title
shall be legal tender as provided in
section 5103 of this title."

Section 5103 states in its entirety:
"United States coins and currency
(including Federal reserve notes and
circulating notes of Federal reserve
banks and national banks) are legal
tender for all debts, public charges,
taxes, and dues. Foreign gold or sil-
ver coins are not legal tender for
debts." As such, the coins tendered
by the Selgases were legal tender at
the time of the transaction (as they
are today). In addition, "10 dollars"
was imprinted on each coin.

The Selgases’ tax basis in the
coins was never revealed, in the
land contract or in the subsequent
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legal proceedings. It is safe to as-
sume, however, that the tax basis
was something more than face
value. Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. section
5112(i)(2), coins sold by Treasury
to the public are sold at market
value (plus a mark-up for the cost
of minting, marketing and distribut-
ing). It also is not inconceivable that
the Selgases purchased some or all
of their coins on the open market or
obtained them through other means.

THE ARGUMENTS

The Selgases’ case hinged on lan-
guage in the Texas Constitution,
specifically Article VIII, section 20,
which states: "No property of any
kind in this State shall ever be as-
sessed for ad valorem taxes at a
greater value than its fair cash mar-
ket value...." (Emphasis added.)

Thus, the seminal question was
this: Does a gold coin, when used to
consummate a property acquisition
transaction, constitute cash?

The answer, of course, was of
great import to the Selgases with re-
spect to their local property tax dis-
pute. The implicit argument under-
lying the local taxing authority’s
position was that appraised values
could be assessed only in terms of
federal reserve notes (or "paper dol-
lars"). As such, if the underlying
transaction was consummated in
gold coinage, it must be "converted"
to  the  federa l  reserve  note
equivalent in order to ascertain the
"fair cash market value" of the
transaction pursuant to the Texas
Constitution. The Selgases, on the
other hand, would argue that a coin-
to-paper conversion is not only un-
necessary, but is in violation of the
Texas Constitution.

The Selgases pointed to Thomp-
son v. Butler, 95 U.S. 694 (1877),
wherein the U.S. Supreme Court
wrote: "The law has not made the
note a standard of value any more
than coin. It is true that in the mar-

ket, as an article of merchandise,
one is of greater value than the
other; but as money, that is to say,
as a medium of exchange, the law
knows no difference between them."
(Emphasis added.)

And in Crummey v. Klein Indep.
School Dist.,  25 Fed. Appx. 625,
2008 WL 4441957 (CA-5, 2008), a
far more recent case on which the
Selgases relied, Crummey sued the
school district in federal court for
refusing to accept his $50 U.S.
American Eagle gold coins for any-
thing more than their $50 face val-
ues as payment for the taxes he
owed. The court wrote:

"We reject Crummey’s suggestion
that the ‘dollar’ has multiple mean-
ings or values within the United
States system of currency.... As le-
gal tender, a dollar is a dollar, re-
gardless of the physical embodiment
of the currency. The legal monetary
value of Crummey’s fifty dollar
American Gold Eagle coin is
equivalent to that of a fifty dollar
Federal Reserve Note. Crummey’s
argument to the contrary, on which
the bulk of his appeal rests, fails."
(Emphasis added.)

The Crummey court formally re-
lied on Thompson in rendering its
decision. And the Selgases further
relied on 31 U.S.C. section 5118 in
support of their position, which per-
mits private citizens to engage in
enforceable gold-clause contracts,
with enforceability governed by the
rules set forth in Bronson v. Rodes,
74 U.S. 229 (1869), and Butler v.
Horwitz, 74 U.S. 258 (1869), as
well as Thompson v. Butler.

So, as it stands, we are presented
with an interesting question con-
cerning local property tax valuations
wherein the underlying transaction
was consummated in U.S. legal
tender gold coins. At the very least,
one might wonder: Is there not the
slightest bit of inconsistency here?
That is, if property is purchased

with legal tender gold coinage, is it
consistent for a taxing authority to
assess the property based on some-
thing other than the face value of
the coins used for the purchase,
while at the same time, only giving
credit for the face value of the coins
when it comes time to collect the
tax?

INCOME TAX ISSUES

Perhaps even more interesting ques-
tions may abound if we take a
plunge into the vast pool of income
taxes.

From an income tax standpoint, it
would be nice to know if legal
tender U.S. coinage is treated as
"money" or "property other than
money" under the federal income
tax laws. The distinction is impor-
tant, as exchanging money for
something else of value will not
give rise to gain or loss recognition.
The theory is that one’s basis in
money is equivalent to its FMV,
hence there is no possibility for ap-
preciation or depreciation.

The astute reader may pause here
with the correct understanding that a
gold coin, whether or not considered
money, can certainly go up or down
in value but, we must ask, against
what benchmark? Yes, certainly a
gold coin can go up in value when
measured against a federal reserve
note (e.g., my $10 gold coin may
bring me $250 in federal reserve
notes today on the open market, but
maybe it will bring me $260 to-
morrow).

Most assuredly, however, a gold
coin cannot appreciate or depreciate
against itself, just as a federal re-
serve note cannot appreciate or de-
preciate against itself. For example,
if an obligation is denominated in
federal reserve notes, the satisfac-
tion of said obligation some time
later, with federal reserve notes, will
not give rise to taxable gain or loss.
This is so despite any change in
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purchasing power stemming from
inflation or deflation in the interim.

With respect to non-monetary
property, however, which can appre-
ciate and depreciate in value against
any measuring stick, disposition will
give rise to gain or loss. See, for
example, Sections 61(a)(3) and
1001. In defining "amount realized,"
Section 1001(b) states: "The amount
realized from the sale or other dis-
position of property shall be the
sum of any money received plus the
fair market value of the property
(other than money) received."

A few questions about this defini-
tion come to mind, such as what is
fair market value? Do we measure
FMV, in all cases, against the back-
drop of legal tender federal reserve
notes? What if one party to the
transaction is required to pay with
legal tender gold coins—do we use
the face value of the coins to mea-
sure FMV insofar as those coins are
legal tender, just as federal reserve
notes are? The celebrated Rev. Rul.
59-60, 1959-1 CB 237, known by
many to include the "mother of all
tax definit ions" — fair market
value—is, unfortunately, not all that
helpful in this context. It does not
distinguish between varying forms
of legal tender.

B u t  w e  a l s o  h a v e  R e g .
1.1001-1(a), which states: "Except
as otherwise provided in subtitle A
of the Code, the gain or loss real-
ized from the conversion of prop-
erty into cash, or from the exchange
of property for other property differ-
ing materially in kind or in extent,
is treated as income or as loss sus-
tained."

There’s that word "cash" again,
just as it appeared in the Texas
Constitution, but we digress ... and
if we digress even further, we come
back to beginning of our discourse
where it was mentioned that gold is
referred to in only two Code sec-
tions. Although Section 613 is

largely irrelevant for our purposes,
Section 408 is not.

Section 408(m) tells us that we
best not invest our IRA money in
any "collectible" as bad things can
happen. Nevertheless, Section
408(m)(3) contains a carve-out for,
among other things, "a gold coin
described in paragraph (7), (8), (9),
or (10) of section 5112(a) of title
31, United States Code." This is the
exact type of coin the Selgases used
to purchase their properties.

It appears, therefore, that the one
place in the Code where we might
find guidance as to whether or not a
legal tender U.S. gold coin is con-
sidered money lends itself to a pro-
taxpayer interpretation. Stated dif-
ferently, if the coin is not treated as
a collectible (namely, not "property
other than money"), then it must be
treated as something different, with
the "something different" perhaps
being money.

But maybe we move too fast.
Jumping over to Section 1(h)(5)(A),
which pertains to collectibles gains
and losses, we run into this lan-
guage: "In general. The terms ‘col-
lectibles gain’ and ‘collectibles loss’
mean gain or loss (respectively)
from the sale or exchange of a col-
lectible (as defined in section
408(m) without regard to paragraph
(3) thereof) which is a capital asset
held for more than 1 year but only
to the extent such gain is taken into
account in computing gross income
and such loss is taken into account
in computing taxable income." (Em-
phasis added.)

The "without regard to paragraph
(3)" language effectively pulls the
gold coin out of non-collectible sta-
tus, as given to it for IRA invest-
ment purposes, and into collectible
status for gain/loss recognition pur-
poses if not held inside of an IRA.
This means that a specified legal
tender gold coin is not treated as
money, for gain/loss recognition

purposes, under the Code. Rather, it
is treated as "property other than
money," as in the type of property
that can appreciate and depreciate
against some benchmark.

Can this be right: If Johnny, who
purchased a single $10 U.S. legal
tender gold coin for $100, ex-
changes it for 25 of Terry’s $10
bills, should Johnny be required to
recognize a $150 gain (a 28%-rate
gain to boot)? Johnny’s purchasing
power certainly has not changed.
Both before and after the transaction
he held legal tender, issued by the
same government, which could
purchase $250 worth of stuff. Has
Johnny truly enjoyed an accession
to wealth? Has Johnny not merely
exchanged one form of legal tender
for another? Do we have a non-
event? And if we do have a non-
event, what would Johnny’s basis be
in the federal reserve notes acquired
from Terry?

What if Johnny had 100 of these
$10 legal tender gold coins, which
he acquired at for $100 apiece, and
decided to purchase real estate
"worth" $25,000 federal reserve
notes? Would he, perhaps, have a
large taxable gain to recognize?

Or what if Johnny used one of
his $10 U.S. legal tender gold coins,
which he acquired for $100, to sat-
isfy his $250 dry-cleaning bill,
which was denominated in federal
reserve notes? Is there any gain rec-
ognition here for Johnny? There
certainly would be for the dry
cleaner. But would it be $10 or
$250?

Is it also possible that loss could
be recognized by Johnny on a trans-
action wherein he exchanges his
$10 coin, which has a $100 basis, to
fully satisfy his $90 dry-cleaning
bill that was denominated in federal
reserve notes? If so, what would the
loss be?

In all of these scenarios, we must
remember that the gold coin in
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question is legal tender money,
which arguably makes it quite dis-
tinguishable from non-monetary
forms of property. Yet the courts
have thrown this "legal tender" dis-
tinction out the window, perhaps for
good reason, and have instead fo-
cused on this question: Is the legal
tender currently "circulating?"

THE ‘CIRCULATING’ QUES-
TION

A brief history of the circulating vs.
non-circulating issue follows, along
with a broader discussion on the
taxation of legal tender coinage in
general.

1968.  It all started with Rev. Rul.
68-634, 1968-2 CB 46, wherein a
taxpayer, who was not a dealer in
coins or currency, "sold" silver cer-
tificates to a dealer for what appears
to have been federal reserve notes.
Without any discussion or explana-
tion, the Ruling summarily con-
cluded as follows: "The silver certif-
icates in the hands of the taxpayer
were property properly classified as
capital assets, as defined in section
1221 of the Code."

The taxpayer also redeemed some
silver certificates for silver bullion
and granules at the U.S. Assay Of-
fice. The Ruling states only that
"any gains he derived upon the sale
of the silver are includible in his
gross income." The interesting part
is that no mention is made of the
redemption itself into actual silver
being a taxable event.

1976.  Then came Rev. Rul.
76-249, 1976-2 CB 21, which cites
Rev. Rul. 68-634. Here, the tax-
payer exchanged appreciated real
property with a basis of $2,000 for
silver coins having a face value of
$2,000 and an FMV of $6,000. The
type of silver coins received by the
taxpayer is not mentioned. In any
event, the Ruling concludes that
"the silver coins received by the

taxpayer for the real property were
themselves property," thereby pro-
ducing a $4,000 taxable gain. The
possibility of the silver coins being
treated as money is not addressed in
the Ruling.

1978.  Next we have Rev. Rul.
78-360, 1978-2 CB 228, which in-
volved estate taxes. Here, the dece-
dent owned U.S. silver coins having
a face value of $25x and an FMV
of $50x. The issue of "circulation"
is raised for the first time, which
might have been the impetus for
judges to raise the issue in subse-
quent court cases. In addition, for
the first time real consideration is
given to whether the coins are
treated as money or as property
other than money.

The Ruling concludes that the
coins should be valued, for estate
tax purposes, as property other than
money. The IRS noted that "the
United States silver coins held by
the decedent at death represent offi-
cial currency, but such coins gener-
ally are noncirculating and are no
longer minted."

1980.  Following in chronological
order, the next authority is Cordner,
45 AFTR2d 80-1677 (DC Calif.,
1980). In 1975, Warren and Evelyn
Cordner received a dividend of 275
U.S. Double Eagle ($20) gold coins.
The Cordners reported the face
value of the coins, as opposed to the
FMV, as dividend income on their
1975 personal tax return. Unsurpris-
ingly, the court ruled that the in-
come inclusion should be based on
the FMV of the coins, not the face
value. Notably, however, the deci-
sion included this statement: "The
United States of America has not is-
sued gold coins for more than forty
years, and all gold coin has been
withdrawn from circulation."

1981.  In California Federal Life
Insurance Co.,  76 TC 107 (1981),
issued in January, the issue was de-

termining the amount realized when
in 1975 the taxpayer exchanged
Swiss francs for U.S. Double Eagle
gold coins. The Tax Court ruled that
the U.S. gold coins were "property
other than money," and accordingly,
should be valued at FMV. The court
dug deep into the history surround-
ing American gold coins.

On 8/28/33, President Franklin D.
Roosevelt ordered, pursuant to the
Emergency Banking Relief Act of
1933, that all persons holding gold
coins, bullion, and certificates, were
to file returns and turn in the gold
to the Secretary of the Treasury.
The main exception was for "[g]old
coin having a recognized special
value to collectors of rare and unu-
sual coin." Thereafter, pursuant to
the Gold Reserve Act of 1934, Con-
gress discontinued all gold coinage
and withdrew from circulation the
existing gold coins. Similar to the
1933 Act, the 1934 Act permitted
collectors to retain rare and unusual
gold coins.

The Tax Court observed in Cali-
fornia Federal Life that, "[a]s stipu-
lated by the parties, the U.S. Double
Eagle coins involved in the ... ex-
change had numismatic worth in ex-
cess of their face value. They are
unusual and rare coins ... and there-
fore, they fall outside the scope of
the [1934 Act]. Accordingly, regard-
less of whether technically the
Double Eagle gold coins might be
legal tender, they are not circulating
legal tender, or ‘money,’ within the
meaning of section 1001(b). Rather,
these gold coins are ‘property (other
than money)’ to be valued at their
fair market value...."

The "fall outside the scope" state-
ment does not mean the rare coins,
since not seized, remained in circu-
lation. Rather, it means that the
coins, since not seized pursuant to
the 1934 Act, were de jure collector
coins.

4 Journal of Taxation
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For the record, California Federal
Life was solely owned by a grantor
trust entitled "E.B.O., W.C. and
E.C. Cordner." Its president was the
Warren Cordner whom we just met.
The Tax Court found it appropriate
to favorably cite the 1980 Cordner
decision as well as Rev. Rul.
76-249.

In December, a three-judge panel
of the Tenth Circuit handed down
Joslin,  666 F.2d 1306, 49 AFTR2d
82-379 (CA-10, 1981). Joslin was a
clever attorney who bargained for
payment in silver dollars. Of course,
he reported the face value of the
coins as income on his tax return,
not the FMV. The court could not
find a case addressing the value to
assign to silver coins received for
services rendered, and turned to
"general tax principles" to aid its
analysis.

After stating the issue, the court
noted, "a silver dollar combines the
characteristics of cash and property.
When a taxpayer bargains for and
benefits from the higher market
value of silver coins [compared to
face value], he or she must include
this amount in income." The court
cited Rev. Rul. 76-249, Rev. Rul.
78-360, Cordner and California Fed-
eral Life. Mention of the "circula-
tion" issue was noticeably absent,
however. Query: What if Joslin had
not bargained for the coins, but the
client simply showed up with them
at Joslin’s door? Now that would be
a bargain.

1982.  We return to Warren
Cordner, who appealed the original
decision. In Cordner,  671 F.2d 367,
49 AFTR2d 82-1353 (CA-9, 1982),
the Ninth Circuit opined as follows:
"We have no difficulty in holding
that the gold coins here, though le-
gal tender and hence ‘money’ for
some purposes, are also ‘property’
to be taxed at fair market value be-
cause they have been withdrawn
from circulation and have numis-

matic worth." (Emphasis added.)
The appellate court cited the 1981
Tax Court decision in California
Federal Life as well as the Tenth
Circuit’s opinion in Joslin.

Three months later, the Ninth Cir-
cuit handed down its opinion in the
appeal in California Federal Life In-
surance Co.,  680 F.2d 85, 50
AFTR2d 82-5271 (CA-9, 1982), and
affirmed the Tax Court, stating:
"We therefore  conclude that
‘money’ in § 1001(b) refers to the
currently circulating medium of ex-
change, while ‘property’ includes
coins that have, by reason of their
value to collectors or the intrinsic
worth of their contents, a fair mar-
ket value in excess of their face
value."

If this is the court’s final answer,
it appears to be ambiguous. The de-
cision states that if a particular type
of coin is currently circulating, it is
treated as money. On the other
hand, if the coin, by virtue of its in-
trinsic worth (or value to collectors),
has an FMV in excess of its face
value, it will be treated as property
(i.e., property other than money).
What if a coin is currently circulat-
ing and also has an intrinsic worth
that exceeds its face value—which
is it, cash or property?

1987. Lary,  TCM 1987-169, in-
volved tax years 1976-1980. The
taxpayer owned and operated a sole
proprietorship, "Precious Objects,"
whose business was to trade such
items as gold and silver coins,
diamonds, jewelry, and oriental
rugs. When Lary received gold and
silver coins as payment for sold
items, he booked the revenue based
on the face value of the coins.

The Tax Court, citing both Cali-
fornia Federal Life decisions (as
well as most of the other cases dis-
cussed above), stated: "Coins which
are not currently circulating legal
tender are property to be valued at

their fair market value for purposes
of section 1001(b)."

Later that same year, in Stoeck-
lin,  TCM 1987-453, a corporation
wholly owned by the taxpayer paid
a trust 250 silver dollars per month
for services rendered. The trust paid
the coins over to the taxpayer as the
person responsible for managing the
assets of the trust. The corporation
took a deduction for the cost of the
coins, which were purchased from
various coin dealers, and the tax-
payer based his income inclusion on
the coins’ face value. The case in-
volved tax years 1978-1982.

Citing the authorities discussed
above, and reciting the taxpayer’s
shenanigans, the Tax Court con-
cluded that the coins were property
other than money with the result
that the income inclusion had to be
based on the FMV of the coins as
opposed to face value. The court
noted that the coins in question
were not in circulation, although the
exact coin type was never disclosed.

1998.  Thus far, the tax years at is-
sue for all the cases discussed pre-
dated the Gold Bullion Coin Act of
1985, which as noted above was
signed into law on 12/17/85. (It was
preceded a few months earlier by
the Liberty Coin Act of 1985 (P.L.
99-61, 7/9/85), which involved the
minting of silver bullion-type
coins.)

Smith,  TCM 1998-148, involved
tax years 1992-1994. The coins at
issue were American Gold Eagles
minted pursuant to the Gold Bullion
Coin Act of 1985.

Here, the taxpayer cut and sold
timber and took back gold coins in
exchange. In rendering its decision,
the court repeated language that we
have seen before:

"Coins which are not currently
circulating legal tender are property
to be valued at their fair market
value for purposes of section
1001(b)," citing both California

5
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Federal Life opinions as well as
Lary. The court continued: "The
gold coins petitioner received from
the sale of timber ... are commemo-
rative coins issued by the U.S. Mint
which are not currently circulating
legal tender. Accordingly, those
coins are ‘property’ within the
meaning of section 1001(b) and are
to be valued at their fair market
value for purposes of section 1001."

How the court came to this "not
circulating" conclusion is unknown.
There was certainly no expert testi-
mony to support it. The U.S. Mint’s
current website (www.usmint.gov)
states with respect to the West Point
Mint Facility: "It is still a storage
facility, but also manufactures,
packages and ships gold and silver
commemorative coins and American
Eagle Bullion coins...." (Emphasis
added.) The implication is that the
U.S. Mint does not view American
Eagle Bullion coins as commemora-
tive coins, as did the Tax Court in
Smith.

2007.  Any discussion about gold
coins would not be complete with-
out mentioning Kahre,  99 AFTR2d
2007-2865 (DC Nev., 2007), which
dealt with certain motions surround-
ing the taxpayers’ second criminal
trial. The first trial, in which the de-
fendant, family members, and others
were tried on 161 charges, including
a multitude of tax crimes, did not
go well for the government. The
case ended with zero convictions;
the jury was hung on many of the
charges, including all charges spe-
cifically levied against Kahre. The
other defendants were completely
acquitted in the first trial.

Kahre was in the construction in-
dustry in Las Vegas who paid his
workers with gold coins, the type
authorized by the Gold Bullion Coin
Act of 1985. Issues arose as to the
deductions claimed, the correspond-
ing amounts reported as income to
the workers, and the inconsistent

treatment therein. Worker classifica-
tion also was at issue, as Kahre
treated the workers as independent
contractors rather than employees.
In addition, Kahre had persuaded
several of his contractors to conduct
their businesses in the same fashion
that he conducted his—with gold
coins. (There also were wire fraud
charges and charges of concealing
taxable assets.)

The case began in 2003 when
Kahre’s business was raided by fed-
eral and local agents, and came to a
close in 2009 when in the second
trial Kahre was found guilty on 57
charges. In the interim, various mo-
tions came before the court for con-
sideration. A somewhat extensive
discourse was undertaken therein on
the issue of "circulating" vs.
"noncirculating" coins, with the ad-
vantage going to the government in
the end:

"Both Defendants and the Gov-
ernment proffer different definitions
for the term ‘circulating.’ Neither
party disputes that the coins such as
the penny, nickel, dime, or quarter
qualify as currently circulating coin-
age. However, the Government ar-
gues that the gold and silver coins
in this case differ from the com-
monly used penny, nickel, etc.,
while Defendants basically claim
they do not. As Defendants note, no
case has defined ‘circulating’ with
regards to the cases distinguishing
between circulating and noncirculat-
ing coins. Indeed, the Court could
find only one case that has directly
examined the coins at issue.... In
Smith, [ TCM 1998-148] the tax
court held that taxpayers were re-
quired to report the coins at their
fair market value.... The facts in this
case do not require a different re-
sult. Defendants argue that the tax
court erroneously noted that the
American Gold Eagle coins were
not currently circulating. However,
this argument assumes the correct

definition for circulating is Defend-
ants’ definition. Some ambiguity
surrounds the correct definition of
the term circulating. For example,
Treasury has noted that the gold
coins at issue are not currently cir-
culating."

The Kahre court went on: "While
Defendants cite to at least one Ninth
Circuit case distinguishing between
circulating and non-circulating
coins, other Ninth Circuit cases
have held—without distinguishing
between currently circulating and
non-circulating coins — that when
legal tender exceeds its face value,
such legal tender is property other
than money, and thus taxpayer must
value that legal tender at its fair
market value. See, e.g., Cordner...."

In all fairness, in Cordner the
Ninth Circuit actually said this: "We
have no difficulty in holding that
the gold coins here, though legal
tender and hence ‘money’ for some
purposes, are also ‘property’ to be
taxed at fair market value because
they have been withdrawn from cir-
culation and have numismatic
worth." (Emphasis added.) So the
Cordner court did indeed distinguish
between circulating and noncirculat-
ing coins.

The Kahre court continued: "Ac-
cordingly, they must include such
amount as income. Congress clearly
had this in mind they passed the
Gold Bullion Act, from which the
coins at issue were authorized....
When passing the legislation, Con-
gress noted that ‘[t]he gold coins
created by this act are legal tender
of the United States — they are
monetary instruments, in every
sense of that concept, at their fair
market value in terms of gold con-
tent.’"

The reader can examine these
ideas and come to his or her own
conclusions. In doing so, consider
the fact that the government will re-
deem a $10 American Eagle gold
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coin only for $10 in federal reserve
notes. Moreover, perhaps consider
another counter argument: If the
coins are indeed "monetary instru-
ments in every sense of the con-
cept," then labeling them as
"money" might be appropriate.

The Kahre court went on to cite
other authorities (all of which are
discussed above), including Joslin,
in support of its decision. But as we
have noted, the Joslin court never
made any mention of the circulation
issue. We may perhaps assume ei-
ther that the Joslin court (1) found
the circulation issue to be irrelevant
and dispatched it outright without
ever mentioning it (although many
other courts raised and tackled the
issue), or (2) it was simply an issue
that was not contemplated at all.

WHERE DOES THIS LEAVE
US?

Pigeon-holing a gold coin into the
"money" category or "property other
than money" category, for federal
income tax purposes, is obviously
no easy task. It arguably comes
down to a facts and circumstances
analysis of the particular type of
coin in question. A legal tender gold
coin is truly a duality, exhibiting
characteristics of both categories.
The case law, and those authorities
preceding case law, exhibit a clear
preference for the "property other
than money" category, but with one
caveat (maybe)—whether the coin
is in current circulation.

The circulation issue has been
beat about by the courts. Some may
find it to be an important considera-
tion, or even ultra-important —
something so critical to the essence
of real money that it alone may
push the coin from one category to
the other. Others may feel that it is
entirely irrelevant—that any coin
"worth" more than its face value al-
ways should be treated as "property
other than money" for tax purposes

(as is foreign currency). Those who
feel the circulation issue is indeed
important may come away with the
feeling that the courts have given it
short shrift by not adequately ad-
dressing it and/or by not attempting
to fully understand it. After all,
have any of these courts offered up
a compelling definition of "currently
circulating" coinage?

Some experts will tell you that it
represents the condition of the coin
immediately after minting, which
speaks to the manufacturing process,
which is based on the intended pur-
pose of the coin—everyday use or a
collector’s shelf? A coin not in-
tended for everyday use will not
follow the exact same production
process, from beginning to end, as a
coin intended to be used every day
(although the striking process may
very well be the same). The coin in-
tended to sit on a collector’s shelf
will include quality enhancements
that coins designed for everyday use
will not possess, such as being
struck with a greater force, using
unworn dies, and extensive clean-
ing. A coin intended for everyday
use would constitute a circulating
coin under this definition, whereas
the coin intended for the collector’s
shelf would be considered noncircu-
lating.

Since this definition largely
speaks to "intent of circulation" (or
intent of purpose) and hence, the
underlying manufacturing process,
rather than to actual movement/cir-
culation in commerce, it is unlikely
that it is the definition we go by for
tax purposes. It is the definition that
the U.S. Mint goes by, however,
which is only logical, seeing that it
is the manufacturer of the coins that
interest us. This makes the Kahre
court’s comment ("For example,
Treasury has noted that the gold
coins at issue are not currently cir-
culating") a bit more understanda-

ble. But it may have led to a mis-
guided application of the law.

Others will tell you that circu-
lated or noncirculated is a certain
"grade" given to a coin at any given
point in time based on the coin’s
present condition. If a coin pos-
sesses a certain amount of wear, it
would be considered circulated. If it
possesses no wear, it would be "un-
circulated." And the third bucket,
which fits between these two cate-
gories, is termed "about uncircu-
lated." These are overly simplistic
generalizations of the Sheldon
Scale, which is a 70-point scale
used to grade, and ultimately ap-
praise, coins. This scale is helpful
for tax purposes since it speaks to
the wear a coin has undergone,
which would be an indicator of its
movement in our system of com-
merce. For tax purposes, however,
we are more interested in an entire
type or class of coin, like American
Eagle Bullion gold coins as a group
and in general, as opposed to an
isolated coin from the batch.

Still others will throw out a lay-
man’s definition — to circulate
means to move around, like the
blood in one’s body, or like a pub-
lisher’s publication, or like the third
grade show-and-tell item that was
"circulated" about the classroom.
This is the definition that should in-
terest us the most. After all, we are
trying to nail down an essential ele-
ment or quality of something that
purports to be money and not prop-
erty—the use of it as legal tender,
on some level, to purchase goods
and services.

Using this definition is not only
commonsensical, it is supported by
the language in several court deci-
sions wherein the word "currently"
precedes the word "circulating."
Some numismatists will argue that a
coin, if used in commerce just once,
is a circulated coin. Yet others may
take a different view. So maybe
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some reverse engineering is in or-
der: To understand what "in circula-
tion" means, we need to understand
what "pulled out of circulation" en-
tails.

Returning to California Federal
Life, recall that the Tax Court pro-
vided a historical backdrop of
American gold coins. With regards
to The Gold Reserve Act of 1934,
the court wrote: "Congress discon-
tinued all gold coinage and with-
drew from circulation the existing
gold coins." So, the "move around"
definition of "in circulation" just
might be confirmed, since to "with-
draw from circulation" contemplates
government intervention first to
seize the coins and second to not re-
issue them, thereby denying the citi-
zenry the opportunity to use and
"circulate" them in commerce
henceforth.

Applying this "move around" def-
inition, we end up with a contin-
uum, with "zero circulation" at one
end, "widespread circulation" at the
other, and limited circulation among
a limited number of private citizens
somewhere in between. Where on
this continuum a type of coin must
rest in order to be considered "cur-
rently circulated" is anyone’s guess;
the courts have not told us. Maybe
it only needs to be somewhere other
than "zero circulation."

In that light, is it somewhat
strange that the courts have repeat-
edly labeled the coins in question as
"noncirculating?" Perhaps this is un-
derstandable for cases involving tax
years before the enactment of the
Gold Bullion Coin Act of 1985. But
does the passage of this Act (and
the Liberty Coin Act) change things
as they relate to the "in circulation"
issue? Certainly, we are aware of
many taxpayers who already have
used these coins in commerce, in-
cluding the Selgases.

Could it be a situation that is
simply confounded by a parallel

monetary system, one which in-
volves paper notes and precious
metal coins? One which involves a
round-hole monetary system and a
square-peg tax system? Sure, some-
thing does smell funny about all this
coin business, and it is evident that
courts have caught a whiff of it too.
But may we ask: Have the courts
possibly overstepped their bounds
here, by finding inventive ways to
deodorize the smell with scant sup-
port in the actual law? Or at the
very least, have the courts muddled
through the issues, somewhat unper-
suasively?

Maybe the courts are concerned
with possibilities that fly in the face
of established tax law, like this one:
Here’s Johnny, who purchases a sin-
gle $10 legal tender American Eagle
gold coin for $100 and later ex-
changes it for federal reserve notes
with a combined face value of $250.
Absent gain recognition, does
Johnny take a $100 basis in the fed-
eral reserve notes? Or does the
"built-in gain" simply evaporate? Or
is there even a "built-in gain" to be-
gin with?

Utah.  The Utah legislature would
answer "no" to this last question.

Article I, section 10 of the U.S.
Constitution states: "No state shall
... make anything but gold and sil-
ver coin a tender in payment of
debts." Basically, this clause
reserves to the states the right to de-
clare gold and silver legal tender.

In 2011, Utah passed the "Utah
Legal Tender Act" to formally exer-
cise its Article I right. Other states
have taken up similar legislation.
The "Highlighted Provisions" of the
proposed bill in Utah stated: "This
bill: recognizes gold and silver
coins issued by the federal govern-
ment as legal tender in the state;
does not compel a person to tender
or accept gold and silver coin; pro-
vides that the exchange of gold and
silver coins for another form of le-

gal tender does not create any indi-
vidual income or sales tax liabil-
ity...." In addition, the Utah Act
allows for a (nonrefundable) state
income tax credit for those who in-
cur a federal capital gains tax on
converting their gold and silver
coins to paper dollars.

In essence, the Utah Act treats
U.S. gold and silver coins as
"money." The Utah Act does not al-
ter the federal classification of gold
and silver coins as "money" or
"property other than money," as the
case may be, and it also does not do
away with the federal taxation of
gold and silver coinage transactions.
Nevertheless, given that certain as-
pects of federal tax law are often
predicated on state law determina-
tions, one does wonder if the Utah
Act will have any bearing, at the
federal level, on the "money" vs.
"property other than money" issue.

WHAT ELSE?

We started with a local property tax
case, worked our way through some
income tax issues, touched on an es-
tate tax ruling, digested a criminal
case, and ended with Utah’s Legal
Tender Act.

There are, of course, other areas
of taxation where the use of gold
and silver coins creates issues: sales
and use tax, real property transfer
taxes, like-kind exchanges, codifica-
tion of the economic substance doc-
trine, just to name a few.

Also worthy of mention is
FinCEN Form 105. Anyone who
has traveled into or out of the U.S.
might be familiar with this form,
which is authorized by 31 U.S.C.
section 5316. Form 105 requires
such travelers who are carrying cur-
rency or "other monetary instru-
ments" with a value exceeding
$10,000 to report said items. Pre-
sumably, a gold coin is an "other
monetary instrument" for this pur-
pose.

8 Journal of Taxation



 Datalogics Unix  Job 1  jgraf/0/8129  15-JAN-13  23:24  
Style: /opus/environments/proda/edsys/pager/style/journal.bst  File: /tigredata/tigredata01/jtax/jtax_561003.txt  
Seq: 9 Color: 0c: Format: rls$prod:journal.fmtFree lead       4325DMpoints, Next          0D, Vjust RE

There also is IRS Form 8300,
which has the same $10,000 report-
ing threshold as FinCEN Form 105.
Form 8300 is entitled "Report of
Cash Payments Over $10,000 Re-
ceived in a Trade or Business." The
Form 8300 Instructions (page 4) de-
fine "cash" to include "U.S. and for-
eign coin and currency received in
any transaction." Pursuant to this
definition, it would be advisable to
report the receipt of gold and silver
coinage if the value is in excess of
the reporting threshold. But no wor-
ries if the client pays you in land, as
separate reporting is not required
(although the FMV of the land

would be includable in gross in-
come).

The government’s treatment of
gold and silver coins, depending on
which end of the transaction it sits,
is at least thought-provoking. But as
it stands, you have two doors before
you, a stack of shiny gold coins be-
hind each. One door is labeled
"Money," the other labeled "Prop-
erty Other Than Money." Which do
you choose?

The Selgases’ tax basis in the coins
was never revealed, but it is safe to
assume that the tax basis was
something more than face value.

The seminal question was this:
Does a gold coin, when used to con-
summate a property acquisition
transaction, constitute cash?

The distinction between ‘money’
and ‘property other than money’ is
important, as exchanging money for
something else of value will not give
rise to gain or loss recognition.

A specified legal tender gold coin is
not treated as money, for gain/loss
recognition purposes. Rather, it is
treated as ‘property other than
money’ that can appreciate and de-
preciate against some benchmark.
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